2011

VCS, INC v. La Salle Development, LLC, America West Bank, Utah Community Bank and Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the trial court err in interpreting Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(3)?

Standard of Review: The proper interpretation and application of a statute is a question of law which is reviewed for correctness, affording no deference to the district court's legal conclusions. *Gutierrez v. Medley*, 975 P.2d 913 (Utah 1998).

Issue preserved in the record: The issue was preserved in the record at the following locations: R. at 301-10, 560-62, 564-66; Transcript of Hearing of 20 September 2010, R. at 711, pp. 6-9, 53, 66-77.

2. Did the trial err in voiding VCS, Inc.'s lien against Utah Community Bank and America West Bank despite VCS, Inc.'s substantial compliance with the provisions of Utah's mechanic's lien law?

Standard of Review: In reviewing a determination of summary judgment, an appellate court reviews the trial court's legal conclusions for correctness and gives no particular deference to that court's view of the law. *Ron Case Roofing & Asphalt Paving Inc. v. Blomquist*, 773 P.2d 1382 (Utah 1989). The proper interpretation and application of a statute is a question of law which is reviewed for correctness, affording no deference to the district court's legal conclusions. *Gutierrez v. Medley*, 975 P.2d 913 (Utah 1998).

Issue preserved in the record: The issue was preserved in the record at the following locations: R. at 564-65, 651-52; Transcript of Hearing of 20 September 2010, R. at 711, pp. 17-19, 24-25, 53, 82-83.

3. Did the trial court err in ruling that VCS, Inc.'s amended complaint did not relate back under Rule 15(a) for the purposes of the filing date?

Standard of Review: An appellate court reviews a district court's interpretation of a rule of procedure for correctness. *Edwards v. Powder Mt. Water & Sewer*, 2009 UT App. 185 (Utah 2009) In reviewing a determination of summary judgment, an appellate court reviews the trial court's legal conclusions for correctness and gives

no particular deference to that court's view of the law. *Ron Case Roofing & Asphalt Paving Inc. v. Blomquist*, 773 P.2d 1382 (Utah 1989).

Issue preserved in the record: The issue was preserved at the following locations: R. at 563-64, 650-51; Transcript of Hearing of 20 September 2010, R. at 711, pp. 6, 40, 43.

4. Did the trial court err in ruling that Utah Community Bank had not been unjustly enriched by VCS, Inc.?

Standard of Review: "Whether a claimant has been unjustly enriched is a mixed question of law and fact . . ." *Desert Miriah, Inc., v. B & L Auto, Inc.*, 12 P.3d 580, 582 (Utah 2000). As such, it will be reversed if clearly erroneous. *Id.*

Issue preserved in the record: The issue was preserved in the record at the following pages: R. at 311-12; 566-68, 652-53; Transcript of Hearing of 20 September 2010, R. at 711, pp. 5, 29-34, 45-49, 62-66, 83.

5. Did the trial court err in determining that VCS, Inc.'s service of process on La Salle was inadequate to sustain a default judgment?

Standard of Review: An appellate court reviews a district court's interpretation of a rule of procedure for correctness. *Edwards v. Powder Mt. Water & Sewer*, 2009 UT App. 185 (Utah 2009).

Issue preserved in the record: The issue was preserved in the record at the following pages: R. at 106-13; Transcript of Hearing of 16 April 2009, R. at 710, pp. 3-57.

Constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, and regulations whose interpretation is determinative of the appeal or of central important to the appeal:

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(2)(b) - "Substantial compliance with the requirements of this chapter is sufficient to hold and claim a lien." Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-7(2)(b) (2007).

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-9 - "(1) The recorder must record the claim in an index maintained for that purpose. (2) From the time the claim is filed for record, all persons are considered to have notice of the claim." Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-9 (2011).

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(1)(a) -

"(1) As used in this section:

(a) "Owner" is as defined in Section 38-11-102.

(b) "Residence" is as defined in Section 38-11-102.

(2) A lien claimant shall file an action to enforce the lien filed under this chapter: (a) except as provided in Subsection (2)(b), within 180 days after the day on which the lien claimant filed a notice of claim under Section 38-1-7; or (b) if an owner files for protection under the bankruptcy laws of the United States before the expiration of the 180-day period under Subsection (2)(a), within 90 days after the automatic stay under the bankruptcy proceeding is lifted or expires.

(3) (a) Within the time period provided for filing in Subsection (2) the lien claimant shall file for record with the county recorder of each county in which the lien is recorded a notice of the pendency of the action, in the manner provided in actions affecting the title or right to possession of real property, or the lien shall be void, except as to persons who have been made parties to the action and persons having actual knowledge of the

commencement of the action. (b) The burden of proof is upon the lien claimant and those claiming under the lien claimant to show actual knowledge under Subsection (3)(a).

(4) (a) A lien filed under this chapter is automatically and immediately void if an action to enforce the lien is not filed within the time required by this section. (b)

Notwithstanding Section 78B-2-111, a court has no subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate a lien that becomes void under Subsection (4)(a).” Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(1-4) (2011).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case:

The underlying case is a claim by a general contractor to collect for services and materials provided to a subdivision development through lien, breach of contract, and unjust enrichment claims. General contractor Plaintiff/Appellants VCS, Inc. (hereinafter “VCS”), brought suit against developer Defendant/Appellee La Salle Development, LLC (hereinafter “La Salle”) and against two banks, Defendants/ Appellees Utah Community Bank and FDIC as receiver for America West Bank (hereinafter “UCB”, “FDIC” or collectively “the Banks”).

Course of the Proceedings Below:

VCS filed suit on 12 March 2008 in the Second Judicial District Court, Weber County, Ogden Department. The Honorable Judge Michael Direda was assigned to the case. VCS’ suit alleged four (4) causes of action: (1) breach of contract; (2) lien foreclosure; (3) declaratory relief regarding priority of interests to the real property; and

(4) quasi contract-unjust enrichment. (R. at 1-10; 177-208; 231-63.) The first cause of action for breach of contract was against La Salle alone. The second and third causes of action, namely to foreclose its lien and determine the priority of the lien claimants, i.e. the priority of the bank versus VCS' mechanics' lien, was against all three Defendants. The fourth cause of action for quasi contract-unjust enrichment was also against all three Defendants.

VCS initially filed suit only against La Salle and obtained a default judgment after serving the registered agent of La Salle. In a ruling on 27 April 2009 the Court set aside the judgment as void under Rule 60(c) because it found Plaintiff failed to serve La Salle (allegedly because the registered agent's secretary, who acknowledged in writing she could accept for the agent, was not La Salle's secretary, but that of the registered agent's personal business). After the default judgment was set aside, VCS amended its complaint and added the Banks as Defendants. On 30 March 2010 VCS brought a summary judgment motion seeking judgment on its causes of action against La Salle and the Banks under its various theories. (R. at 288-508.) On 15 April and 28 April 2010 the Banks brought cross motions for summary judgment. (R. at 509-552.) La Salle failed to respond to the Plaintiff's motions.

Disposition By Trial Court:

In a ruling dated 26 October 2010 the Trial Court declared VCS's lien void and granted the banks cross motions for summary judgment. (R. at 646.) It also denied Plaintiff's motion as to its claims against the Banks, but granted its motion with respect to Plaintiff's breach of contract and unjust enrichment claims against La Salle. (R. at 644-

55, 689-91.) On 14 December 2010 the Trial Court granted VCS's motion for summary judgment against La Salle for breach of contract and unjust enrichment in the amount of \$218,948.50, but failed to declare VCS's lien valid and order foreclosure of its lien. (R. at 689-91.) The Trial Court granted the Banks' motions for summary judgment against VCS and awarded the Banks attorney's fees. (R. at 644-55; 682-88.) The final judgment appealed from was entered on 14 December 2010. VCS filed a timely Notice of Appeal on 12 January 2011.

Statements of Fact:

FACTS RELATED TO LIEN LAW AND UNJUST ENRICHMENT

1. Tom Phelps is the owner and operator of VCS, Inc. ("VCS"), a Utah Corporation and at all times relevant herein Tom Phelps ("Phelps") was a licensed general contractor in the state of Utah. (R. at 317.)
2. In March 2006, Phelps was contacted by Kyle Lind ("Lind"), a principle and owner of Defendant La Salle Development, LLC ("La Salle"), who asked VCS to access and bid the completion of a subdivision called Northpark Meadows (aka North Park Meadows), located at approximately 600 E. 4th N. in Ogden, Utah. (R. at 317-18, 645.)
3. La Salle owned nineteen (19) vacant lots in the subdivision, comprising lots 5-8, 10-22 and lots 31 and 32 of North Park Meadows. (R. at 318, 344, 645.)

4. After obtaining the subcontractor bids, VCS submitted a complete bid to La Salle to complete the infrastructure and home construction for the nineteen lots, which bid was accepted. (R. at 318.)
5. VCS and La Salle entered into a written agreement, prepared by Don Hampton of La Salle, on 22 February 2007. The combined total expected compensation to VCS for the entire project was \$192,815.00. (R. at 347-51.)
6. By October 2006, VCS obtained approval from the city to begin work. (R. at 319.)
7. Approximately the first week of November 2006 work began on the project, including, but not limited to, construction and installation of storm drain, underground detention basin, concrete sidewalk, French drain, silt fence, etc. and all the improvements necessary to complete the infrastructure of the subdivision. (R. at 319, 645.)
8. On 12 January 2007 Defendant Utah Community Bank recorded a trust deed dated 9 January 2007 and La Salle received its first loan for the acquisition and development of the project. (R. at 645.)
9. VCS began home construction in 2007 on four lots, Lots 19-22, for which VCS had obtained building permits. (R. at 320, 354-55.)
10. A Notice of Commencement was filed with the Utah State Contractor Registry for the residence construction. (R. at 358-63.)
11. VCS, Inc. did not receive any payment from La Salle pursuant to their agreement. (R. at 320-21.)

12. In approximately April 2007 **VCS and Defendant Utah Community Bank entered in a written contract** that VCS would continue to act as the general contractor for the project **in the event** that La Salle failed its obligations to the bank. (R. at 321.) Utah Community Bank **failed to refute that there was a written contract in its response to VCS's Motion for Summary Judgment.** (R. at 512-535.) (Plaintiff's Statement of Fact No. 15 and Phelps Second Affidavit No. 19-20 was not refuted and is therefore deemed admitted pursuant to Rule 7 of the Rules of Civil Procedure).
13. In September 2007 VCS was orally terminated by La Salle, despite being on-budget and ahead of schedule. (R. at 320, 645.)
14. After La Salle received funding from UCB in January 2007, Utah Community Bank: (1) was aware that VCS was working on the project; (2) was aware the VCS was conferring a substantial benefit to La Salle and to the bank, who had a security interest in the property receiving improvements; (3) had insecurity about La Salle's ability to make payments and suspected it would have to foreclose on the property; (4) knew it would have to pay VCS for its work on the project; (5) knew that VCS expected payment; (6) knew that its loan proceeds were used to pay for ongoing improvements; (7) kept a Tracking Log of the loan line items and expenses/invoices/costs for the project; and (8) knew that VCS was intimately involved in the project and was submitting invoices and/or draws for work done by it or its subcontractors as the work was completed on the project. (R. at 319-21, 338, 341, 472-78, 649.)

15. VCS' last day of substantial work was September 15, 2007. (R. at 320, 646.)
16. America West Bank obtained interest in lots 31 and 32 on 24 October 2007. (R. at 493-99, 645.)
17. VCS filed a lien on 29 January 2008 for work performed on all nineteen (19) lots. The lien was for \$1,000.00 per lots 3-18 and 31 and 32, and \$17,987.25 per lot for lots 19-22, as well as fees, costs and other amounts due and owing, for a total of \$88,949.00. (R. at 334-35, 366-67, 645-46.)
18. VCS provided notice of the lien filed to La Salle and to La Salle's registered agent, Ted Madsen, via U.S. Mail. The notice was sent out February 1, 2008 by certified mail, and was returned with the signature of Ted Madsen, as registered agent, and signed by someone on behalf of La Salle. (R. at 321, 370-71.)
19. The Banks had record notice of the lien as of 29 January 2008 pursuant to U.C.A. § 38-1-9.
20. Plaintiff filed suit on 12 March 2008. (R. at 1-11, 645-46.) See also Online Docket, case no. 080901677. The suit contained the lien recovery fund application forms for application to the fund. (R. at 177, 231, 415-42.)
21. On 6 June 2008 Plaintiff obtained a default judgment for \$90,176.50. (R. at 321, 370-71.)
22. On 24 September 2008 VCS filed a Notice of Judgment Lien with the court and county recorder. (R. at 21-22.)
23. On 26 January 2009 Defendant La Salle filed a motion to set aside the judgment. (R. at 68-93.)

24. On 16 April 2008 the court heard oral argument and determined it would set aside the default judgment, which final order was signed on 27 April 2009. (R. at 210, 645.)
25. On 16 October 2008 VCS sent a letter to the UCB and FDIC (at the time, America West Bank) informing them of the judgment against La Salle and requesting that they stipulate to priority. (R. at 645.)
26. On 21 April 2009 VCS amended its complaint to correct the contract damages claim and add claims for declaratory relief and unjust enrichment, and simultaneously added party Defendants America West Bank and Utah Community Bank. (R. at 645.) VCS subsequently amended its complaint again on 18 December 2009. (R. at 177, 231.)
27. On 24 April 2009 VCS filed a lis pendens with the Weber County Recorder's office. (R. at 445-47, 645.)
28. On 30 December 2009 Utah Community Bank became the owner of Lots 5-8, and 10-22 pursuant to a foreclosure sale on a Trust Deed from La Salle. (R. at 450-52, 502-03, 645.)
29. UCB obtained ownership to these seventeen (17) lots directly from La Salle (who was a party to the lawsuit within 180 days from the date VCS filed its lien) and at a time when UCB had actual knowledge of the suit because it and La Salle were already parties to the action. (R. at 450-52, 502-03, 645.)
30. FDIC is not the owner of lots 31 and 32, but upon information and belief, continues to hold a Trust Deed to these lots. (see generally, R. at 645.)

31. On 14 December 2010 VCS obtained a judgment against La Salle in the amount of \$218,948.50 for unjust enrichment. (R. at 689-91.)

FACTS RELATED TO SERVICE OF PROCESS

32. La Salle's registered agent on March 19, 2008, was Ted A. Madsen. (R. at 209.)
33. On March 19, 2008, VCS served La Salle by leaving a copy of the Summons, Notice of Mechanic's Lien, Military Service Affidavit and Complaint with a receptionist of La Salle's registered agent, Ted Madsen. VCS's Process server, Rosemari Green, served receptionist Cailey Tonks, who acknowledged on the Summons in her own handwriting, "For Registered Agent Ted Madsen." (R. at 209, 12-13, 384-85, 388-89.)
34. Ms. Tonks was not associated with La Salle. (R. at 209-10.)
35. Process server, Rosemari Green, who had been in business for nineteen years at that time, had a processing policy and business practice when serving a summons and complaint upon a registered agent of a company to specifically ask for the registered agent whose name is on the summons. If he/she are not available to accept service of the same, she asks if the receptionist/secretary or person in charge if they are authorized to accept service on behalf of the registered agent. (R. at 384-85.)
36. Ms. Honks provided no affidavit. Counsel proffered "I don't remember". R. at 710, p. 11-12.

37. Registered agent Ted Madsen could not remember if he received the complaint and allegedly did not provide the complaint to La Salle. (R. at 210.) Mr. Madsen could not recall if he received the September 2008 lien sent to him by mail. *Id.*
38. La Salle alleged no knowledge of the suit until December 2008, upon receipt of a writ of execution by VCS. *Id.*
39. La Salle failed to answer the complaint follow service on its registered agent.
40. Kyle Lind is a non-party who, upon information and belief, has an interest in La Salle. Rick Sorensen is a Utah attorney who represents non-party Kyle Lind in several other suits pending in Utah courts and in which VCS, Inc. is also a party. (R. at 402.)
41. After service of the Summons and Complaint upon Defendant, La Salle Development, LLC, attorney for VCS, Inc., H. Thomas Stevenson, spoke with Rick Sorensen, attorney for Kyle Lind, and on two occasions asked if he represented La Salle Development. Rick Sorensen told H. Thomas Stevenson in both instances that he did not represent La Salle Development, LLC. At no time has Mr. Sorensen indicated to H. Thomas Stevenson that he represents La Salle Development, LLC. *Id.*
42. On two occasions, Tom Phelps, Terrence Neal, attorney Tom Stevenson, representing VCS, Inc., Kyle Lind, and Rick Sorensen, attorney for Kyle Lind, met at the offices of Stevenson & Smith. (R. at 405-07, 410-12.)
43. On one of these occasions, which occurred shortly after serving La Salle registered agent in March 2008, but before June 6, 2008, when VCS obtained its default

judgment, the parties discussed all the complaints that had been filed by VCS, Inc. and/or Tom Phelps against Kyle Lind and/or his associated entities. Id.

44. With regard to an action titled VCS v. Lind et al. (the Bearlake matter) which is in First District Court, Tom Stevenson, representing VCS, Inc., granted an open-ended extension to Kyle Lind and the associated entities who were Defendants in that action. Id.
45. With regard to the VCS, Inc. v. La Salle matter, Rick Sorensen and Kyle Lind acknowledged that they knew about the complaint, however, Rick Sorensen stated, "I do not represent La Salle Development at this time, however, I may in the future." Id.
46. Following this statement, Kyle Lind stated that his partner, Don Hampton, may "do something stupid like on the last one." Id.
47. This statement by Kyle Lind is in reference to the fact that Don Hampton had responded to a prior complaint by United Contractors without having talked to their attorneys. Id.
48. Kyle Lind knew about the complaint that was received and which had been served on his registered agent, but Kyle Lind's attorney, Rick Sorensen, indicated that he was not representing Defendant, La Salle Development, in the matter. Id.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This appeal concerns whether the court erred: 1) in interpreting Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(3) in such a way as to make the exclusion apply to the 180-day period; 2) in

finding that VCS had not substantially complied with the Utah's mechanic's lien law; 3) in ruling that VCS, Inc.'s amended complaint did not relate back under Rule 15(a) to the filing date; 4) in ruling that the Banks had not been unjustly enriched by VCS's work on the property; and 5) in determining that VCS's service of process on La Salle was inadequate to sustain a default judgment.

The Trial Court found that the language of Utah Code Ann. §38-1-11, requiring that a lis pendens be filed within 180 days of the lien filing was ambiguous and unclear. As a result it looked to the courts for an interpretation of the statute. The Supreme Court has not passed upon the issue and the reasoning from two important Appellate Court decisions lead to different results. VCS's reading of the current statute, namely that the 180 day time period does not apply to the exceptions, i.e. to parties named in the suit or parties with actual knowledge of the suit, is a reasonable conclusion from reading the plain language of the statute. While the Defendant Banks have another interpretation of the statute, only VCS's view comports with the expressed intent of the statute to protect mechanics work.

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