2011

VCS, INC v. La Salle Development, LLC, America West Bank, Utah Community Bank and Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

III. VCS DID NOT SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLY WITH THE MECHANIC'S LIEN STATUTE

VCS' failure to record a *lis pendens* was not a "mere technicality" that can or should be excused by its substantial compliance with other provisions of the mechanic's lien statute. *See* Brief of Appellant, at p. 33. First, VCS has failed to cite any authority for the proposition that recording a *lis pendens* is the kind of technicality that can be overlooked if the lien claimant has otherwise substantially complied with the governing statute. Like VCS, UCB has also been unable to find any support for the notion that performing an act expressly required by the mechanic's lien statute – recording a *lis pendens* – is a mere technicality. To the contrary, the kind of trivial, technical missteps that substantial compliance will excuse include omitting the notary public's address and commission expiration date from the jurat on the lien claimant's mechanic's lien notice. *See Projects Unlimited, Inc. v. Copper State Thrift & Loan Co.*, 798 P.2d 738, 745-46 (Utah 1990). Failing to record an expressly mandated document is obviously a far more substantial deviation from the statutory requirements than is omitting a notary public's address or commission expiration date. A recorded lien notice, even if improperly notarized, nonetheless gives notice of a lien, while the absence of a *lis pendens* amounts

to a total failure to give notice. Second, this Court has held that while mechanic's liens generally ought not be defeated by technicalities, that rule applies only when "no express command of the statute is disregarded." *Projects Unlimited*, 798 P.2d at 744 (quoting *Eccles Lumber Co. v. Martin*, 87 P. 713, 716 (Utah 1906)). In this case, of course, VCS disregarded the express statutory command that it record a *lis pendens*. Whether VCS substantially complied with other provisions of the mechanic's lien statute is thus immaterial.

VCS purports to justify its disregard for the statutory *lis pendens* requirement by explaining that it had already obtained a default judgment against La Salle by the time the 180-day period for filing a foreclosure suit and recording a *lis pendens* expired. *See* Brief of Appellant, at p. 34. VCS claims that under those circumstances, it "had no reason to believe a *lis pendens* was necessary" because it believed there was sufficient equity in the Property to satisfy its lien claim regardless of the relative priority of such lien. *Id.* In other words, VCS gambled that it could obtain a quick default judgment against La Salle, foreclose on the Property, and get paid without going to the trouble of suing all interested parties. By the time VCS realized that its gamble would not pay off, however, the 180-day deadline had passed and VCS' alleged lien had become void as against UCB.⁸

Nothing in the mechanic's lien statute either excuses VCS' mistaken belief in the likelihood of a quick foreclosure sale or permits a second bite at the apple. Knowing that

⁸ VCS' claim to have recorded its *lis pendens* "well in advance of UCB's later acquisition of an interest in the [P]roperty" is wrong. *See* Brief of Appellant, at p. 34. UCB recorded its deed of trust against the Property on January 12, 2007, more than two years before VCS eventually recorded a *lis pendens* in April 2009. *See* Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, at pp. 4, 12 [R. 293, 301].

it was gambling, VCS should have taken the simple, prudent, and inexpensive precaution of recording a *lis pendens*. Having failed to do so, VCS' substantial compliance with other provisions of the statute cannot reverse the voiding of its alleged mechanic's lien as against UCB.

IV. VCS' VOID MECHANIC'S LIEN WAS NOT REVIVED BY THE DOCTRINE OF RELATION BACK

The District Court correctly determined that VCS could not revive its voided mechanic's lien claim against UCB by amending its complaint pursuant to Rule 15(c) of the *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*. Rule 15(c) provides that when a claim sought to be added by amendment arose out of the same transaction set forth in the original complaint, the amendment relates back to the date of the original complaint. *See Utah R. Civ. P. 15(c)*. A claim asserted against a new party will not relate back under Rule 15, however, unless the new party has an "identity of interest" with the original defendant. *See Doxey-Layton Co. v. Clark*, 548 P.2d 902, 906 (Utah 1976). An identity of interest exists between the original and new defendants when "the parties are so closely related in their business operations that notice of the action against one serves to provide notice of the action to the other." *Perry v. Pioneer Wholesale Supply Co.*, 681 P.2d 214, 217 (Utah 1984). Importantly, a merely contractual relationship between the old and new parties is an insufficient basis for a determination that the parties share an "identity of interest" for purposes of Rule 15(c). *See id.*

UCB had no identity of interest with La Salle such that La Salle's participation in VCS' lawsuit could or should have given UCB notice of the action. There was no

evidence before the District Court of a close relationship between the business operations of UCB and La Salle. *See Perry*, 681 P.2d at 217 (identity of interest may be found where old and new parties are “closely related in their business operations”) (emphasis added). Rather, the only evidence of a relationship between UCB and La Salle before the District Court was that UCB made a construction loan to La Salle. *See* Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment, at p. 4 [R. 293]. This purely contractual arrangement was not an identity of interest. *See Perry*, 681 P.2d at 217. Indeed, given their relationship as creditor and debtor, UCB’s interests were in many ways adverse to La Salle’s interests.

VCS’ contention that UCB and La Salle shared an identity of interest because UCB was made a party to the case before discovery commenced is, as the District Court opined, “unconvinc[ing].” *See* Ruling, at p. 7 [R. 650]. First, VCS misquotes the *Doxey-Layton* case. According to VCS, the *Doxey-Layton* Court stated that an identity of interest exists between existing and new parties when the new party “has been ‘sufficiently alerted to the proceedings, or [was] involved in them unofficially, from an early stage.’” *See* Brief of Appellant, at p. 35 (quoting *Doxey-Layton Co. v. Clark*, 548 P.2d 902, 906 (Utah 1976)). The Court actually said that early awareness of a lawsuit is one of the rationales for the identity of interest rule. *See Doxey-Layton*, 548 P.2d at 906. The Court did not say that early involvement equates to an identity of interest. Second, in any event, it was undisputed that UCB was not aware of VCS’ lawsuit until well over six months after the case was commenced, and that UCB was not involved in the case until more than one year after it was filed. VCS ignores these facts, but suggests that the case

remained in an “early stage” at the time UCB became a party simply because no discovery had occurred. *See* Brief of Appellant, at p. 35. That no discovery had occurred was, of course, a function of VCS’ effort to avoid having to litigate its claims altogether by obtaining a hasty default judgment against La Salle on the basis of what the District Court determined to be improper service of process. *See* Brief of Appellant, at p. 6. Had VCS properly served La Salle, the discovery process would have undoubtedly been well underway long before UCB was eventually named as a defendant. It would be inequitable to rule that VCS’ mechanic’s lien claim against UCB relates back to the original complaint merely because no discovery was undertaken when VCS’ own failure to properly effect service upon La Salle was the sole reason for the lack of discovery.

Even if there were a basis for a determination that UCB and La Salle shared an identity of interest, VCS has no answer for the fact that the Utah Court of Appeals ruled more than two decades ago that a void mechanic’s lien cannot be revived by Rule 15(c). *The Diehl Lumber Transportation, Inc. v. Mickelson*, 802 P.2d 739 (Utah Ct. App. 1990), court held that the untimeliness of a mechanic’s lien foreclosure action could not be cured by relation back under Rule 15(c). *See id.*, at 744. This was so, the court said, because the statutory deadlines for mechanic’s liens are jurisdictional. *See id.* (quoting *AAA Fencing Co. v. Raintree Dev. & Energy Co.*, 714 P.2d 289 (Utah 1986)). In other words, once an alleged mechanic’s lien is void due to the lien claimant’s failure to comply with the statutory deadlines, both the right to a lien and the associated remedy are lost and “the court is without jurisdiction to decree a foreclosure.” *Id.* Lacking such jurisdiction, courts lack “authority to revive the lien by permitting amendment under Rule 15(c).” *Id.*

In sum, the District Court correctly ruled that VCS' failure to timely record a *lis pendens* could not be cured by an amended pleading under Rule 15(c). UCB and La Salle shared no identity of interest such that La Salle's status as a party to VCS' lawsuit either could have or did protect UCB's interests. Even if UCB and La Salle's interest had been shown to be aligned, however, it has long been the law of Utah that Rule 15(c) cannot operate to revivify a void mechanic's lien. The Court should, therefore, affirm the District Court's decision.

V. UCB WAS NOT UNJUSTLY ENRICHED

The District Court granted summary judgment in UCB's favor with respect to VCS' unjust enrichment claim because VCS failed to exhaust its legal remedies by failing to perfect a mechanic's lien claim against UCB. *See* Ruling, at pp. 9-10 [R. 652-53]. On appeal, VCS makes two arguments with respect to this ruling. First, VCS contends that it perfected its mechanic's lien claim by filing a foreclosure action against La Salle and later adding UCB as a defendant. *See* Brief of Appellant, at pp. 37-38. Second, VCS argues that summary judgment was improper because whether UCB was unjustly enriched was a disputed issue of material fact. *See id.*, at pp. 38-39. Neither of VCS' arguments withstands scrutiny.

VCS' claim to have exhausted its legal remedies (or, rather, to be in process of exhausting its legal remedies) by filing a foreclosure suit against La Salle and later adding UCB is based exclusively on an attempt to distinguish *Knight v. Post*, 748 P.2d 1097 (Utah 1988). The court held in that case that the plaintiff could not recover the value of his work on an oil well site on the basis of the equitable doctrine of *quantum*

meruit because he had failed to exhaust his legal remedies, including a mechanic's lien. *See id.*, at 1099-1100. Specifically, although the plaintiff recorded a mechanic's lien notice, his notice described the wrong property and he neglected to file a timely lien foreclosure action. *See id.*

VCS contends that unlike the plaintiff in *Knight v. Post*, it did file a timely action to foreclose its alleged mechanic's lien and, therefore, it has not failed to exhaust its legal remedies. *See* Brief of Appellant, at p. 37. VCS' claim is true only insofar as it applies to La Salle, however. Before a party can pursue an equitable remedy against any party, it must first exhaust its legal remedies as against all parties. *See UTCO Assocs., Ltd. v. Zimmerman*, 2001 UT App 117, ¶¶ 18-29, 27 P.3d 177 (plaintiff's failure to pursue legal claim against one defendant barred pursuit of equitable claim against other defendants). It is undisputed that VCS did not timely make UCB a party to its foreclosure suit, did not give UCB notice of its foreclosure suit, and did not record a *lis pendens* despite the fact that VCS could have done any or all of them (given that UCB's deed of trust was recorded against the Property more than one year before VCS sued La Salle). Having failed to pursue its mechanic's lien remedy against UCB, VCS' alleged lien became void with respect to UCB even if the lien remained valid as against La Salle's interest in the Property.⁹ VCS thus failed to take advantage of its statutory remedy as against UCB and cannot be said to have genuinely exhausted its legal remedies.

⁹ La Salle's interest in the Property, and VCS' lien claim against that interest, were eliminated by the December 2009 trustee's sale at which UCB acquired title to the Property. *See* Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit Q [R. 449-69].

VCS also argues that summary judgment was improper because “there are questions of fact concerning whether [UCB] was unjustly enriched.” Brief of Appellant, at pp. 38-39. VCS lists eight purportedly disputed facts. *See id.* Only the first five of those eight “facts” were before the District Court. *See* Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment, at p. 6 [R. 295]. UCB actually disputed just two of those “facts,” namely that UCB “was aware the VCS [*sic*] was conferring a substantial benefit to La Salle and to the bank,” and that UCB “knew it would have to pay VCS for that benefit.” *See* Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment and in Support of Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, at pp. 3-4 [R. 514-15]. UCB did so solely because VCS offered precisely no evidence in support of either “fact” in direct violation of Rule 7(c)(3)(A) of the *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*. *See id.* Thus, no genuine, properly supported facts were actually disputed.

In any event, the District Court properly granted UCB’s cross-motion for summary judgment with respect to VCS’ unjust enrichment claim because VCS is incapable of carrying its burden with respect to any of the elements of its claim.

To prove the existence of a contract implied in law, a plaintiff must establish the following: “(1) the defendant received a benefit; (2) an appreciation or knowledge by the defendant of the benefit; (3) under circumstances that would make it unjust for the defendant to retain the benefit without paying for it.”

Emergency Physicians Integrated Care v. Salt Lake County, 2007 UT 72, ¶ 11, 167 P.3d 1080 (quoting *Davies v. Olson*, 746 P.2d 264, 269 (Utah Ct. App. 1987)). With respect to the first and second elements, to the extent VCS’ alleged work on the Property benefitted anyone, it was La Salle. La Salle owned the Property La Salle contracted with

VCS, and it was, presumably, La Salle that ordered VCS to begin work on the Property two months before UCB acquired an interest in the Property (according to VCS). While La Salle may thus have benefitted from VCS' work, there was no evidence before the District Court to show that UCB also benefitted. At most, the value of the security for UCB's loan to La Salle may have increased, but VCS offered no evidence to support such a proposition.

Even if VCS could prove that UCB knowingly received a benefit, VCS cannot show that it would be unjust for UCB to retain such benefit for two reasons. First, "[t]he mere fact that a third person benefits from a contract between two others does not make such third person liable in quasi-contract, unjust enrichment, or restitution. There must be some misleading act, request for services, or the like, to support such an action."

Commercial Fixtures & Furnishings, Inc. v. Adams, 564 P.2d 773, 774 (Utah 1977)

(citation omitted). Assuming again that UCB benefitted from the VCS' alleged work for La Salle, VCS offered no evidence of any misleading act, request for services, or other like conduct by UCB that might support a conclusion that UCB would be unjustly enriched absent payment to VCS. At most, VCS suggested that UCB agreed to hire VCS to continue working on the Property at some unspecified time in the future in the event that La Salle defaulted. *See* Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, at p. 5 [R. 294]. In other words, VCS contends that UCB requested potential future services, not the services VCS alleges it actually performed pursuant to its agreement with La Salle and for which it seeks payment in this action.

Second, VCS concedes that UCB paid for the work allegedly performed upon the Property. Indeed, it is undisputed that UCB extended a construction loan to La Salle and that the “loan proceeds were used to pay for ongoing improvements” to the Property. *See* Brief of Appellant, at p. 38; Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment, at p. 4 [R. 293] (asserting that after obtaining its construction loan from UCB, “La Salle paid the subs for their work, including Parsons Concrete and Wasatch Valley Excavation.”). Having thus once paid for VCS’ alleged work, UCB could not be unjustly enriched by retaining the benefit of such work.

In sum, the District Court correctly determined that VCS’ unjust enrichment claim is barred by its failure to exhaust its mechanic’s lien remedy as against UCB. Summary judgment was also appropriate with respect to VCS’ unjust enrichment claim because VCS cannot prove either that it would be unjust for UCB to retain any benefit it did not pay for or that UCB did not already pay for VCS’ alleged work.

VI. THE DISTRICT COURT’S AWARD OF ATTORNEYS’ FEES SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

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